#### International Journal of Women's Dermatology 6 (2020) 57-60

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# SEVIE

International Journal of Women's Dermatology

## Review Supporting underrepresented minority women in academic dermatology<sup>,</sup> ☆

### Ginette A. Okoye, MD

Department of Dermatology, Howard University College of Medicine, Washington, DC, United States

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 August 2019 Received in revised form 11 September 2019 Accepted 13 September 2019

Keywords: Women in medicine Women in dermatology Underrepresented minorities in medicine Mentorship Female physicians Academic medicine

#### ABSTRACT

The lack of underrepresented minorities in medicine (UIM) in dermatology has been well established, but the challenges faced by UIM women in dermatology have not yet been explored. UIM women belong simultaneously to more than one underrepresented group and therefore face complex challenges that are common to women and underrepresented minorities. Yet, the literature that focuses explicitly on UIM women as a group is scarce. This commentary provides insight into some of the challenges faced by UIM women in academic dermatology and provides specific recommendations to support these women through mentorship, professional development, and legitimization of their contributions to institutional diversity and service efforts.

© 2019 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of Women's Dermatologic Society. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Contents

Introduction	57
Challenges encountered by UIM women in academic dermatology	58
Clinical demands	58
Cultural taxation	58
Barriers to academic promotion	58
Supporting underrepresented women in academic dermatology	58
Recommendation 1: Prioritize mentorship	58
Recommendation 2: Professional development	59
Recommendation 3: Incentivize clinical care of the underserved	59
Recommendation 4: Legitimize diversity work and community service	59
Conclusion	59
Declaration of Competing Interest	59
Conflict of Interest	60
Funding	60
Study Approval	60
References	60

#### Introduction

The dearth of underrepresented minorities in medicine (UIM) in

dermatology has been well established (Feng et al., 2019; Hinojosa

and Pandya, 2016; Pandya et al., 2016). This lack of racial/ethnic

No human subjects were included in this study. No animals were used in this study

E-mail address: Ginette.okoye@howard.edu

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijwd.2019.09.009

2352-6475/© 2019 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of Women's Dermatologic Society.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).



International Journal of Women's Dermatology

**o**wds ==



diversity in dermatology is especially evident in the academic setting, where the lack of underrepresented minority female physicians (henceforth referred to as UIM women) is staggering. At U.S. medical schools in 2018, 1.9% of dermatology faculty identified as African-American women (1 instructor, 19 assistant professors, 6 associate professors, 2 full professors) and 1.3% identified as Hispanic women (1 instructor, 10 assistant professors, 3 associate professors, 5 full professors). There are currently no female dermatology faculty who identify as American Indian/Alaskan Native, Native Hawaiian, or Pacific Islander (AAMC, 2018).

UIM women belong simultaneously to more than one underrepresented group and therefore face complex challenges that are common to women and to underrepresented minorities. Yet, literature that focuses explicitly on UIM women as a group is scarce. Wong et al. (2001) astutely describe this group as having "little visibility and few advocates." For the purpose of this paper, the concerns of UIM women as a group will be extrapolated from the literature that exists separately for UIM physicians and female physicians.

This lack of representation of UIM women in academic dermatology has far-reaching consequences. The impact of shared life experiences between patients and their providers is crucial to the patient experience, and data suggest that increased diversity and physician-patient racial/ethnic concordance are associated with better patient-doctor communication, increased patient participation in medical decision-making, and improved adherence to medical advice (Alsan et al., 2019; Harvey et al., 2016; Shen et al., 2018). Furthermore, UIM dermatology faculty can serve as role models and mentors for UIM students and residents and champion more inclusive resident and faculty selection strategies (Oyesanya et al., 2018).

Studies have demonstrated that UIM women bring different perspectives to patient care and research and are more likely to work on gender and racial disparities in health care (Calder, 1997). UIM faculty may also be more likely to advocate for culturally competent curricula and can disrupt stereotypes by bridging cross-cultural communication barriers that may exist between non-UIM faculty and UIM trainees, staff, and patients. Yet, UIM women in academia encounter significant challenges. These challenges are bravely shouldered and have been normalized due to their pervasiveness. However, they contribute to burnout and career dissatisfaction and reduce the chances of retaining this important part of our workforce.

## Challenges encountered by UIM women in academic dermatology

#### Clinical demands

Female physicians are more likely to care for patients with complex psychosocial issues, spend more time with patients, and provide more preventive services (Henderson and Weisman, 2001; McMurray et al., 2000). UIM physicians are more likely to care for patients from racial/ethnic minority groups, those of lower socioeconomic status, and non-English-speaking patients and are more likely to treat patients covered by Medicaid and those who are uninsured (Komaromy et al., 1996; Marrast et al., 2014; Silver et al., 2019). Despite the personal fulfillment gained from treating these underserved patients, the financial impact is significant. No-show rates are known to be higher in this patient population (Lee et al., 2018; Mieloszyk et al., 2019), and Medicaid reimbursements are lower compared with commercial insurance payors (Payette, 2017). Consequently, compared with their majority colleagues, UIM women in academia are at risk for lower financial productivity despite a higher clinical burden.

Additionally, physicians who work in clinical environments that serve underserved populations have described their work environment as challenging and chaotic, with fewer resources, less control, and less job satisfaction (Varkey et al., 2009). Research and other scholarly activity can suffer under the weight of these clinical burdens, with UIM faculty spending more time on clinical care and having less protected time for research (Palepu et al., 2000). UIM physicians are therefore faced with balancing the competing demands of their academic ambitions with service to the community.

#### Cultural taxation

In addition to their clinical, research, and teaching duties, UIM female faculty often undertake extra work to support the diversity mission of their institution or department (i.e., cultural tax). They may serve as mentors to multiple underrepresented minority students and trainees, who far outnumber the number of available UIM female faculty. They may provide cultural expertise or context to their department or institution through participation on committees. They may also represent the department, institution, and specialty in the community through community service projects and outreach programs. Although UIM women enthusiastically support and willingly participate in these diversity efforts, they do so at the cost of scholarly productivity, which is the primary metric used when faculty are evaluated for promotion.

#### Barriers to academic promotion

It is well established that women and UIM faculty are less likely to progress to senior ranks in academia and are more likely to leave academic medicine in 5 years, regardless of academic productivity (Fang et al., 2000; Lewis-Stevenson et al., 2001; Marbella et al., 2002; Nunez-Smith et al., 2012; Palepu et al., 1998). Contributing factors include lack of protected research time, lack of mentorship, fewer opportunities for professional development and networking, and diversity pressures (Palepu et al., 1998; Price et al., 2009; Rodriguez et al., 2014).

Additionally, subtle and likely unintentional microaggressions and bias are a pervasive and constant threat to UIM and female physicians in academia and have been shown to affect crucial aspects of the promotion process, including letters of recommendation, evaluations, and grant reviews (Choo, 2017; Guglielmi, 2018; Madera et al., 2009).

#### Supporting underrepresented women in academic dermatology

Based on the literature that exists for UIM physicians and women in medicine, as well as anecdotal evidence from the experiences of UIM women in dermatology, I propose a number of specific recommendations to support the academic careers of UIM women in dermatology.

#### Recommendation 1: Prioritize mentorship

It is well known that mentorship is vital to a successful academic career. Studies have demonstrated that, for UIM and female physicians, mentorship plays a critical role in the decision to pursue academic medicine, academic productivity, and job satisfaction (Dixon et al., 2019; Yehia et al., 2014) Yet, underrepresented minorities and women in academia are less likely to have mentors than their majority peers, and this disparity contributes to inequities in grant funding and promotion (Beech et al., 2013; Dawson, 1999; National Institutes of Health, 2012). According to Yehia et al. (2014), African-American, Hispanic, and female residents actively seek out mentors of the same race/ ethnicity and gender in an attempt to avoid the difficulties of explaining the "context and nuances of their perspectives and situations to non-minority mentors." Certainly, there are not enough race and gender-concordant senior faculty in dermatology to mentor every UIM woman in academia. Indeed, this should not necessarily be our goal. Our goal should be to identify senior faculty mentors who can bridge the cultural divide and mentor junior faculty from all backgrounds.

In addition to having successful scholarly track records, mentors for UIM women should be equipped with the cultural competency and coaching skills needed to guide UIM faculty through the mire of academia. They should be familiar with the historical context that created the framework for their mentees' upbringing and current environment and be willing to learn more about their lived experiences and perspectives. They should take the time to get to know their mentees to identify their career goals and strengths, as well as the factors that could impede their personal and professional development. This information can then be used to develop a personalized mentoring and professional development plan to help mentees achieve their scholarly goals while meeting clinical and service responsibilities.

Undoubtedly, good mentorship is time-consuming. However, mentorship can be quite rewarding and can advance the mentor's career. Departmental leaders should build a culture of mentorship and information sharing and reward good mentors, especially those who make the effort to cross the gender and race/ethnicity divide. Departments should consider having a formal process for ensuring that UIM women have mentors within and/or outside their institution and incorporate an evaluation system to assess the success of these relationships (Wong et al., 2001).

Peer mentorship can be an effective adjunct to traditional junior–senior faculty mentorship. Peer mentorship has been shown to improve academic productivity and advancement (Prendergast et al., 2019). It may be particularly helpful for UIM women because this type of mentorship can ameliorate isolation and facilitate the development of collegial relationships with peers for academic and emotional support, feedback, and information sharing (Prendergast et al., 2019).

#### **Recommendation 2: Professional development**

Individualized professional development opportunities would go a long way in retaining UIM women in dermatology. For example, formal training in research methodology, scientific writing, and grant writing for early-career UIM women could provide an important foundation for their scholarly pursuits. UIM women should be encouraged (and given protected time) to participate in faculty development programs that teach institutional culture. These programs have been shown to improve recruitment and retention of UIM and female faculty and can be a way for UIM women to find mentors (Beech et al., 2013; Daley et al., 2006).

Institution and specialty-wide leadership development programs are additional options for mentorship, networking, and acquisition of leadership skills. Participation in these programs may require an adjustment in the faculty's clinical schedule or a temporary decrease in clinical responsibilities, but in the long term it may contribute to a departmental culture where UIM women feel valued and invested in. This may in turn improve job satisfaction and retention.

#### Recommendation 3: Incentivize clinical care of the underserved

For any given academic dermatologist, the patient population, insurance payor mix, service location, and complexity of subspecialty patients can significantly affect financial productivity. There are financial implications for UIM and female faculty, who disproportionately provide care to underserved patients and/or practice in settings with less clinical support. For these faculty, productivity metrics that rely solely on billing collections may not adequately convey the extent of their clinical productivity.

Relative Value Units and/or billing charges should also be taken into consideration to obtain an accurate representation of the clinical work performed. Departmental leadership should guard against designing a system in which caring for underserved patients comes at a personal financial cost to faculty who are willing to do this important work. In fact, given the importance of caring for the underserved and improving workforce diversity in dermatology, departmental leadership should consider incentivizing all faculty to care for the underserved, especially UIM and female faculty who may already be contributing in this manner. This incentivization could be in the form of a service subsidy that buffers the potential for lower collections based on the insurance payor mix. Protected time for research or protected time to catch up on clinical documentation could also be provided, or additional clinical support staff could be provided to faculty to decrease the burden of caring for patients with more complex medical and psychosocial needs. Finally, ensuring that all clinical locations are efficiently run and adequately staffed regardless of that location's patient population will decrease the burden of caring for underserved patients.

#### Recommendation 4: Legitimize diversity work and community service

To provide support for the academic promotion of UIM women, departmental leadership should consider designing a faculty evaluation system that legitimizes work that advances the diversity mission of the institution (e.g., committee work, community outreach, and mentorship of students, trainees, and peers). The time and effort required for this type of work in academia should be recognized and considered alongside publications, grants, invited lectures, and other metrics for scholarly achievement.

#### Conclusion

This paper discusses only some of the challenges faced by UIM women in academic dermatology. The challenges faced by UIM women in the pharmaceutical industry and private sector, as well as the lack of UIM men in dermatology, deserve further attention.

More research is needed to fully describe the experiences and challenges of underrepresented women in medicine, and more creative solutions are needed to aid our efforts to recruit and retain UIM women in academic dermatology. Their visibility and mentorship efforts aid in the recruitment of more diverse trainees, and they are more likely to provide high-quality care to the underserved. They are also more likely to conduct research in subject matters that affect vulnerable populations. Personalized mentorship and professional development and a supportive departmental structure that values the contributions of UIM women will produce long-term benefits to our specialty, including building a more representative workforce, building connections with diverse communities, and progressing toward our society's goal to achieve health equity and eliminate health care disparities.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### **Conflict of Interest**

None.

#### Funding

None.

#### **Study Approval**

NA.

#### References

- AssociationAssociation of American Medical Colleges. U.S. medical school faculty report [Internet] [cited 2019 July 25]. Available from: https://www.aamc. org/download/495060/data/18table19.pdf; 2018.
- Alsan M, Garrick O, Graziani GC. Does diversity matter for health? Experimental evidence from Oakland. NBER working paper no. 24787, Revised version [Internet] [cited 2019 July 25]. Available from: https://www.nber.org/papers/ w24787.pdf; 2019.
- Beech BM, Calles-Escandon J, Hairston KG, Langdon SE, Latham-Sadler BA, Bell RA. Mentoring programs for underrepresented minority faculty in academic medical centers: a systematic review of the literature. Acad Med 2013;88 (4):541–9.
- Calder L. The impact of women on women's health research: an interview with Dr. Ruth Wilson. Interview by Lisa Calder. Health Care Women Int 1997;18 (4):395–405.

Choo ÉK. Damned if you do, damned if you don't: bias in evaluations of female resident physicians. J Grad Med Educ 2017;9(5):586–7.

- Daley S, Wingard DL, Reznik V. Improving the retention of underrepresented minority faculty in academic medicine. J Natl Med Assoc 2006;98(9):1435–40.
- Dawson PL. Forged by the knife: the experience of surgical residency from the perspective of a woman of color. 1st ed. Greensboro, NC: Open Hand Publishing;
- Dixon G, Kind T, Wright J, Stewart N, Sims A, Barber A. Factors that influence the choice of academic pediatrics by underrepresented minorities. Pediatrics 2019;144(2).
- Fang D, Moy E, Colburn L, Hurley J. Racial and ethnic disparities in faculty promotion in academic medicine. JAMA 2000;284(9):1085–92.
- Feng H, Feng PW, Geronemus RG. Diversity in the U.S. Mohs micrographic surgery workforce. Dermatol Surg 2019;45(1):160–3.
- Guglielmi G. Gender bias goes away when grant reviewers focus on the science. Nature 2018;554(7690):14-5.
- Harvey VM, Ozoemena U, Paul J, Beydoun HA, Clemetson NN, Okoye GA. Patientprovider communication, concordance, and ratings of care in dermatology: results of a cross-sectional study. Dermatol Online J 2016;22(11).
- Henderson JT, Weisman CS. Physician gender effects on preventive screening and counseling: an analysis of male and female patients' health care experiences. Med Care 2001;39(12):1281–92.
- Hinojosa JA, Pandya AG. Diversity in the dermatology workforce. Semin Cutan Med Surg 2016;36(4):242–5.
- Komaromy M, Grumbach K, Drake M, Vranizan K, Lurie N, Keane D, et al. The role of black and hispanic physicians in providing health care for underserved populations. N Engl J Med 1996;334(20):1305–10.
- Lee SR, Dix DB, McGwin G, Odom CK, Netto CC, Naranje SM, et al. Correlation of appointment times and subspecialty with the no-show rates in an orthopedic ambulatory clinic. J Healthc Manage 2018;63(6):e159–69.
- Lewis-Stevenson S, Hueston WJ, Mainous AG, Bazell PC, Ye X. Female and underrepresented minority faculty in academic departments of family

medicine: are women and minorities better off in family medicine? Fam Med 2001;33(6):459-65.

- Madera JM, Hebl MR, Martin RC. Gender and letters of recommendation for academia: agentic and communal differences. J Appl Psychol 2009;94 (6):1591–9.
- Marbella AM, Holloway RL, Sherwood R, Layde PM. Academic ranks and medical schools of underrepresented minority faculty in family medicine departments. Acad Med 2002;77(2):173–6.
- Marrast LM, Zallman L, Woolhandler S, Bor DH, McCormick D. Minority physicians' role in the care of underserved patients: diversifying the physician workforce may be key in addressing health disparities. JAMA Intern Med 2014;174 (2):289–91.
- McMurray JE, Linzer M, Konrad TR, Douglas J, Shugerman R, Nelson K. The work lives of women physicians results from the physician work life study. The SGIM career satisfaction study group. J Gen Intern Med 2000;15(6):372–80.
- Mieloszyk RJ, Rosenbaum JI, Hall CS, Hippe DS, Gunn ML, Bhargava P. Environmental factors predictive of no-show visits in radiology: Observations of three million outpatient imaging visits over 16 years. J Am Coll Radiol 2019;16(4 Pt B):554–9.
- National Institutes of Health. Draft report of the advisory committee to the director working group on diversity in the biomedical research workforce [Internet] [cited 2019 August 20]. Available from: https://acd.od.nih.gov/documents/ reports/DiversityBiomedicalResearchWorkforceReport.pdf; 2012.
- Nunez-Smith M, Ciarleglio MM, Sandoval-Schaefer T, Elumn J, Castillo-Page L, Peduzzi P, et al. Institutional variation in the promotion of racial/ethnic minority faculty at U.S. medical schools. Am J Public Health 2012;102(5):852–8.
- Oyesanya T, Grossberg AL, Okoye GA. Increasing minority representation in the dermatology department: the Johns Hopkins experience. JAMA Dermatol 2018;154(10):1133-4.
- Palepu A, Carr PL, Friedman RH, Amos H, Ash AS, Moskowitz MA. Minority faculty and academic rank in medicine. JAMA 1998;280(9):767–71.
- Palepu A, Carr PL, Friedman RH, Ash AS, Moskowitz MA. Specialty choices, compensation, and career satisfaction of underrepresented minority faculty in academic medicine. Acad Med 2000;75(2):157–60.
- Pandya AG, Alexis AF, Berger TG, Wintroub BU. Increasing racial and ethnic diversity in dermatology: a call to action. J Am Acad Dermatol 2016;74(3):584–7.
- Payette MJ. The unsustainable cost of medicaid: insights from a hospital-based academic dermatology practice. Conn Med 2017;81(5):267–9.
- Prendergast HM, Heinert SW, Erickson TB, Thompson TM, Vanden Hoek TL. Evaluation of an enhanced peer mentoring program on scholarly productivity and promotion in academic emergency medicine: a five-year review. J Natl Med Assoc 2019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnma.2019.07.001</u> [Epub ahead of print].
- Price EG, Powe NR, Kern DE, Golden SH, Wand GS, Cooper LA. Improving the diversity climate in academic medicine: faculty perceptions as a catalyst for institutional change. Acad Med 2009;84(1):95–105.
- Rodriguez JE, Campbell KM, Mouratidis RW. Where are the rest of us? Improving representation of minority faculty in academic medicine. South Med J 2014;107 (12):739–44.
- Shen MJ, Peterson EB, Costas-Muniz R, Hernandez MH, Jewell ST, Matsoukas K, et al. The effects of race and racial concordance on patient-physician communication: a systematic review of the literature. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2018;5 (1):117–40.
- Silver JK, Bean AC, Slocum C, Poorman JA, Tenforde A, Blauwet CA, et al. Physician workforce disparities and patient care: a narrative review. Health Equity 2019;3 (1):360-77.
- Varkey AB, Manwell LB, Williams ES, Ibrahim SA, Brown RL, Bobula JA, et al. Separate and unequal: clinics where minority and nonminority patients receive primary care. Arch Intern Med 2009;169(3):243–50.
- Wong EY, Bigby J, Kleinpeter M, Mitchell J, Camacho D, Dan A, et al. Promoting the advancement of minority women faculty in academic medicine: The National Centers of Excellence in Women's Health. J Womens Health Gend Based Med 2001:10(6):541–50.
- Yehia BR, Cronholm PF, Wilson N, Palmer SC, Sisson SD, Guilliames CE, et al. Mentorship and pursuit of academic medicine careers: a mixed methods study of residents from diverse backgrounds. BMC Med Educ 2014;14:2–26.